

INSTITUTE FOR ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH

6935 Laurel Avenue, Suite 201 Takoma Park, MD 20912

Phone: (301) 270-5500 FAX: (301) 270-3029 e-mail: ieer@ieer.org http://www.ieer.org

The Environmental Transport of Radium and Plutonium: A Review

Brice Smith Alexandra Amonette

Institute for Energy and Environmental Research

June 23, 2006

Acknowledgements

This study was undertaken as part of a Citizens' Monitoring and Technical Assessment Fund Grant Agreement MTA-05-010, administered by RESOLVE, Inc. We have greatly benefited from the support of Louise Gant, Manager of the MTA Fund at RESOLVE and Brad Lewis, the Chief Financial Officer. It is one of the studies that IEER is preparing under this grant. Two case studies also prepared by IEER under this grant relate to the Los Alamos National Laboratory and to the uranium processing plant near Fernald, Ohio, which has now been decommissioned.

We would like to thank Lois Chalmers, who helped with the bibliographic research and the references, and Arjun Makhijani who reviewed drafts of this report. As always, we, as the authors, remain solely responsible for the contents of this report, its conclusions and recommendations, and any omissions or errors.

Brice Smith Alexandra Amonette Takoma Park, Maryland June 22, 2006

Table of Contents

Chapter One: Introduction	1
Chapter Two: Radium Mobility in the Environment	4
Section 2.1 – Adsorption/Desorption Studies	6
Section 2.2 – Measuring the Partition Coefficient	7
Section 2.3 – Limitations of the K _d Approach	8
Section 2.4 – Biota Effects Impacts on Radium Mobility	
Section 2.5 – Conclusions	11
Chapter Three: Plutonium Mobility in the Environment	13
Section 3.1 – Oxidation States of Plutonium	
Section 3.2 – Complexing Agents	16
Section 3.3 – Colloid Mediated Transport	18
Section 3.4 – Erosion and Surface Water Transport	22
Section 3.5 – Biota Impacts	24
Section 3.6 – Conclusions	25
References	26
Additional Resources Available	31

Chapter One: Introduction

It has been estimated that since the dawn of the nuclear era more than "73 million cubic meters of soils and sediments in the U.S. alone have been contaminated with actinides and fission products by Department of Energy defense nuclear activities."¹ However, with respect to the protection of human health, the most relevant question is not how much radiation is in the ground, but how much radiation will eventually reach people and damage living cells. In order to answer this question it is necessary as a first step to predict the transport of the contaminants from where they leaked or were discharged through the environment to areas where humans may be exposed to them. The second step is to then try to predict how much of that radiation people would be exposed to, and thus how big a dose they would receive. In this report we will consider only the first step in this process. There are a number of routes of exposure and transport, such as (1) resuspension of deposited radionuclides into the air, (2) uncovering of buried radionuclides due to erosion and subsequent exposure to gamma radiation, (3) migration of radionuclides into groundwater, and (4) mobilization of radionuclides by erosion into surface water. This report provides a review of the last two mentioned pathways, which impact the purity of water resources. It is further focused on two elements, radium and plutonium, that are present at many contaminated sites across the United States and in other countries as well.

Given the inhomogeneous and highly complex chemical, biological, and physical properties of soil, rocks, groundwater, and surface water, it has been found that predicting the mobility of radionuclides is far from simple. For example, when many of the sites within the U.S. nuclear weapons complex were founded, it was believed that their arid climate and thick unsaturated zones would help to protect the groundwater beneath the sites for hundreds to thousands of years. However, investigations of contaminant mobility at these sites have revealed these early assumptions to be in substantial error. For example, the travel time estimated by the DOE for radionuclides to reach the Snake River aquifer under the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory (now the Idaho National Laboratory) has fallen from tens of thousands of years in their predictions from the mid-1960s to just a few tens of years today. This thousand fold increase in the contaminant's estimated mobility was prompted by the discovery that plutonium had already reached the groundwater 200 meters beneath the Radioactive Waste Management Complex.²

A second example where early predictions of limited contaminant transport were later disproved by facts on the ground is the case of tritium at the waste disposal facility in Beatty, Nevada. Despite the fact that it was originally predicted that no tritium would migrate from the disposal area at all, tritium has already been found 48 meters below the site. A third example of this kind of failure was the DOE's prediction that the low rain fall and 90 meter thick unsaturated zone below the waste disposal areas at Hanford in Washington State would prevent any contamination from reaching the groundwater. Unfortunately, some fission products and other radionuclides that have leaked from high-level waste tanks have already reached the water table below Hanford, in some areas, after just 60 years.³ Finally, a fourth example of the failure of past DOE predictions can be found in its analysis

¹ [Loyland Asbury, Lamont, and Clark 2001 p. 2295] Until 1974 the Atomic Energy Commission was responsible for the U.S. nuclear weapons complex. In 1974 it was split up into the Energy Research and Development Administration and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. In 1977, the Energy Research and Development Administration became the Department of Energy. [DOE Timeline] For simplicity we will use the term Department of Energy in this report regardless of the time period.

² NAS/NRC 2001 p. 93-94 and Long and Ewing 2004 p. 391

³ NAS/NRC 2001 p. 93 and Long and Ewing 2004 p. 391

of plutonium migration from the underground nuclear weapons tests conducted at the Nevada Test Site (NTS).⁴

In all of these examples, the conceptual models relied upon by the DOE for decision making failed to accurately predict contaminant transport, and it was only after the discovery of radionuclides spreading into the environment that these models were revised. The failure of these transport models was due in large part to the failure to adequately characterize the systems. As summarized by the National Research Council of the U.S. National Academies of Science

Simply stated, a transport model is only as good as the conceptualizations of the properties and processes that govern radionuclide transport on which it is based.⁵

In real systems there may be chemical and biological processes that will occur which effect the mobility of contaminants. These processes may themselves be changing over space and time which would further complicate efforts to predict radionuclide transport. There may also be more pathways by which the radionuclides can move than originally expected. For example, plutonium and other transuranics can adsorb onto very small particles known as colloids. These particles are so small that they can move with the ground or surface water thus mobilizing contaminants that would otherwise have been considered to be insoluble and tightly held by the soil or sediments. In other systems flooding or surface erosion may dominate the transport of some radionuclides. Finally, the transport model itself might be adequate, but the information on what parameters to input may not be available from experimental evidence or the information available may not be adequate to properly represent the characteristics of the site.

In this report we will provide a brief review of the environmental transport of two specific radionuclides. In Chapter Two we will consider the mobility of radium. This naturally occurring radionuclide is part of the uranium and thorium decay series, and is thus a potential concern in many areas where these elements have been mined or processed. In addition to the large number of sites with radium bearing waste, we chose to focus on this radionuclide in part due to the high concentrations of radium-226, and its thorium-230 parent, in the raffinate waste from the former Fernald Feed Material Production Plant in Ohio. In Chapter Three we will discuss the mobility of plutonium, and to some extent other transuranic elements. Contamination with these anthropogenic radionuclides has been discovered at a number of DOE sites and, due to the long half lives of many of these elements, they are a potential concern for long-term management.

For both radium and plutonium we have found that there are a number of important site-specific properties that can either enhance or retard the mobility of these radionuclides. In addition, to discussing the chemical, biological, and physical processes that can affect the mobility of these radionuclides, we have also provided a discussion of the main transport model used today in determining regulatory compliance as well as its strengths and weaknesses. As a result of this review, our primary conclusion is that detailed, site-specific analyses are essential when attempting to accurately predict the transport of radium or plutonium through the environment. Performance as an adequate basis for demonstrating compliance with regulatory limits. Site-specific measurements of important model parameters should include an adequate number of samples to ensure that the results are truly representative of the entire site and the chemical state of the contamination. In addition, the measurement methodology used should be carefully chosen to most closely approximate the

⁴ [Kersting et al. 1999] This example is discussed in greater detail in Section 3.3.

⁵ NAS/NRC 2001 p. 92

conditions at the site. Finally, transport modelers should learn from past surprises and unexpected behavior of radionuclides and seek to be realistically conservative in their treatment of potential transport pathways and in the parameters they use. This is particularly true for radium and many of the transuranic elements, given the long half lives of many of these radionuclides and their parents.

Chapter Two: Radium Mobility in the Environment

Radium is a naturally occurring radionuclide that is part of the uranium and thorium decay series. Only four radium isotopes are known to exist in nature, and all four are radioactive:⁶

Isotope	Half life	Primary Decay Mode	Decay Series
Radium-228	5.75 years	beta	Thorium-232
Radium-226	1,600 years	alpha, gamma	Uranium-238
Radium-224	3.66 days	alpha, gamma	Thorium-232
Radium-223	11.44 days	alpha, gamma	Uranium-235

In addition to their own radiological properties, three of these radium isotopes present additional environmental and heath concerns due to the fact that they decay into radon. Radon is a gas at room temperature and is thus more mobile in the environment. The National Research Council noted that radon-222 "was the first occupational respiratory carcinogen to be identified" and that "[r]adon has now been classified as a human carcinogen by the International Agency for Research on Cancer."⁷ The three radon isotopes created by the decay of radium are:

Radon Isotope	Half life	Parent Isotope
Radon-222	3.8 days	Radium-226
Radon-220	56 seconds	Radium-224
Radon-219	4.0 seconds	Radium-223

Generally, the most important radium isotope is radium-226 given the relative abundance of uranium-238 in the environment, the long half life of radium-226, and the fact that it decays into radon-222.

The most recent information on radium's mobility in the environment was reviewed in 2004 as part of a study by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency entitled Understanding the Variation in Partition Coefficient, K_d , Values: Volume III: Review of Geochemistry and Available K_d Values for Americium, Arsenic, Curium, Iodine, Neptunium, Radium, and Technetium. The majority of the information presented in this appendix is drawn from Section 5.7 "Radium Geochemistry and K_d Values."⁸

Radium belongs to the group of alkaline earth metals, and its chemical properties are, therefore, most similar to those of barium. In the body, radium is a calcium analog, and goes primarily to the bone. Over a wide range of pH values from acidic (pH 3) to basic (pH 10), "the dominant aqueous species for dissolved radium" is believed to be the +2 oxidation state. While dissolved radium generally does not form aqueous complexes, the following complexes have been identified in experimental settings; "RaOH+, RaCO₃⁰ (aq), and RaSO₄⁰(aq)."⁹

Radium dissolved as Ra^{+2} can adsorb onto soil through ion exchange. The strength of this interaction for a given set of chemical conditions and soil properties can be quantified in terms of the partition coefficient (K_d). The partition coefficient is an equilibrium property that relates the concentration of a contaminant adsorbed onto the solid phase to that dissolved in the liquid phase.¹⁰ This definition

⁶ EPA 2004 p. 5.64

⁷ NAS/NRC 1999 p. 20

⁸ EPA 2004 p. 5.63-5.72

⁹ EPA 2004 p. 5.64

¹⁰ EPA 1999 p. 2.16 to 2.18

results in the partition coefficient having the somewhat unusual units of liters per kilogram (L/kg) or, equivalently, milliliters per gram (ml/gm).

 K_d = concentration in the solid phase (pCi/kg) / concentration in the liquid phase (pCi/L)

A large value of the partition coefficient, therefore, implies that the contaminant is tightly bound to the soil and will migrate slowly, while a small value implies the opposite. Due to its relative simplicity, the constant K_d approach is one of the most important transport models used today.¹¹ For example, ResRad, the computer program developed at Argonne National Laboratory for use in determining compliance with DOE and NRC regulations, uses this type of transport model.¹²

Despite the presence of radium-226 in uranium bearing ores, there have been only a relatively modest number of studies conducted on the mobility of radium in the environment. The 2004 EPA review includes the following table summarizing the available data:

Table 2.1. Measurements of the partition coefficient for radium for various soil types. The wide range over which the results are spread is noteworthy given the relatively limited number of observations.¹³

	K _d Values (ml/g)		
Soil Type	Geometric Mean	Number of Observations	Range
Sand	500	3	57 - 21,000
Silt	36,000	3	1,262 - 530,000
Clay	9,100	8	696 - 56,000
Organic	2,400	1	N.A.

The EPA notes that these data are drawn from a "minimal number of adsorption studies" and that, therefore, the effect of soil and water chemistry on the mobility of radium is not well known. The authors go on to note that,

However, as an alkaline earth element, the adsorption behavior of radium will be similar and somewhat greater to that of strontium for which extensive studies and data exist. For screening calculations of radium migration in soils, the K_d lookup table listed in Volume II [of *Understanding the Variation in Partition Coefficient*, K_d , *Values*] can be used as general guidance for radium.¹⁴

This recommendation notwithstanding, the EPA concludes that

Given the absence of definitive maximum and minimum K_d values for radium as a function of the key geochemical parameters, such as pH, EPA suggests that K_d values measured for radium at site-specific conditions are thus *essential* for site-specific contaminant transport calculations and conceptual models.¹⁵

This conclusion is supported by an earlier review of radium mobility conducted by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). In its 1990 review, the ATSDR noted that

¹¹ EPA 1999 p. iii

¹² Yu et al. 2001

¹³ EPA 2004 p. 5.72

¹⁴ EPA 2004 p. 5.67

¹⁵ EPA 2004 p. 5.67 (emphasis added)

Adsorption constants $[K_d]$ for inorganic ions such as Ra^{2+} cannot be predicted <u>a priori</u> because they depend on the type of adsorbent, the pH of the water, and the presence of other ions in solution.¹⁶

In this chapter, we will first summarize the information available regarding the adsorption/desorption behavior of radium. Second, in light of the EPA's recommendation that it is "essential" that site-specific measurements of the partition coefficient be made, we will examine some of the difficulties that are encountered in making such measurements. Finally, we will conclude by reviewing the limitations of the constant K_d transport model for predicting the environmental mobility of contaminants like radium.

Section 2.1 – Adsorption/Desorption Studies

Radium is known to be "readily adsorbed to clays and mineral oxides present in soils, especially near neutral and alkaline pH conditions."¹⁷ In addition, studies of adsorption and desorption "indicate that radium is essentially completely reversibly adsorbed."¹⁸ In a study of uranium mill tailings, Landa and Gray found that "alkaline earth sulfate and hydrous ferric oxide solids are important sorption phases" for radium.¹⁹ Similar results have been found in relation to radium's mobility in groundwater. For example, Turekian found that the retardation of radium was "high in oxidizing ground waters because of the scavenging of radium by manganese and iron oxide surfaces."²⁰ These results are important to consider in connection to the Fernald raffinate waste given the presence of high concentrations of sulfates and lead oxide in the silos compared to the concentration of radium.²¹

In addition to the presence of alkaline earth sulfates and metal oxides which influence the sorption of radium, there are a number of other factors that can affect the sorption of materials in general. For example, the affinity of an element for ion exchange relative to other members of its chemical group increases with increasing atomic weight. Therefore, the sorption of radium is the strongest of all the alkaline earth metals.²² Second, given that the number of sites at which ions may be adsorbed are limited, the adsorption of any particular species decreases as the concentration of competing ions increases. In the specific case of radium, its adsorption "has been shown to be strongly dependent on ionic strength and concentrations of other competing ions."²³ Third, the pH of the system also has a strong effect on the adsorption of cationic species like radium. When an ion is adsorbed onto soil it typically releases a hydrogen ion (H⁺). This release is favored under alkaline conditions and inhibited under acidic conditions. Thus, radium will become increasingly mobile in acidic soils and waters. This effect has been found to be particularly strong when the decrease in pH is due to the presence of organic acids.²⁴

¹⁶ ATSDR 1990 p. 49 (emphasis in the original)

¹⁷ EPA 2004 p. 5.67

¹⁸ EPA 2004 p. 69

¹⁹ EPA 2004 p. 5.66 and 5.68

²⁰ Turekian Abstract 1997 p. 2

²¹ The average radium concentration of the raffinate waste in Silos 1 and 2 at Fernald (prior to addition of bentonite clay) was approximately 300 parts per billion. The sulfate concentration, on the other hand, was 90,000 times higher than the concentration of radium while the lead oxide concentration was 327,000 times higher than that of radium. [Fioravanti and Makhijani 1997 p. 224, 237, and 239]

²² EPA 2004 p. 5.67

²³ EPA 2004 p. 5.67

²⁴ IAEA 1990 p. 331 and EPA 2004 p. 5.67

As a result of the "minimal number of adsorption studies" that have been carried out, there remain important outstanding questions about the adsorption of radium to materials other than clays, mineral oxides, and alkaline earth sulfates. Some studies have suggested that "radium may be strongly adsorbed by organic material is soils," while others have been less conclusive.²⁵ For example, Nathwani and Phillips found that "the adsorption of radium on organic matter is ten times as high as on clay" and "therefore conclude that the affinity of radium for organic exchangeable places is somewhat larger than for average ions."²⁶ However, in a study of "highly weathered and sandy soils," Willet and Bond found "no clear relationship between ²²⁶Ra sorption and the concentrations of organic matter and clay in the soils."²⁷ These results strengthen the conclusion that site-specific measurements of radium's mobility are essential when conducting site-specific performance assessments.

Finally, we note that the adsorption of radium on crushed rock and numerous pure mineral phases has also been studied.²⁸ However, the EPA concluded that these results "are not necessarily relevant to the mobility and sorption of radium in soils" given the complexity of typical soil systems and the strong dependence of the partition coefficient on local physical and chemical conditions.²⁹ In addition, many of the studies on crushed rock were conducted as part of efforts to study the geologic disposal of spent nuclear fuel. As such, they "were conducted over a range [of] temperatures above ambient to determine the extent of radionuclide adsorption as a function of temperature and with respect to changes in groundwater chemistry (e.g., pH and Eh) and mineralogy that will occur with increasing temperature."³⁰ This further limits their value in estimating radium mobility at typical soil temperatures.

Section 2.2 – Measuring the Partition Coefficient

One of the most significant difficulties that is encountered in trying to accurately measure the partition coefficient for radium or any other element is that the value of K_d is strongly dependent on the local chemical properties of the system.³¹ Therefore, it is very important to collect a suitably wide range of samples in order to ensure that the samples being studied are truly representative of the site.

There are currently five methods for measuring the partition function in general use. These include the "laboratory batch method, *in-situ* batch method, laboratory flow-through (or column) method, field modeling method, and K_{oc} method."³² As summarized by the EPA

Each method has advantages and disadvantages, and perhaps more importantly, each method has its own set of assumptions for calculating K_d values from experimental data. Consequently, it is not only common, but expected that K_d values measured by different methods will produce different values.33

One significant disadvantage of these techniques is that "[e]ssentially all of the assumptions associated with the thermodynamically defined K_d value... are violated in the common protocols used to measure

²⁵ EPA 2004 p. 5.67 to 5.68

²⁶ IAEA 1990 p. 329

²⁷ EPA 2004 p. 5.68

²⁸ EPA 2004 p. 5.72 and H.2 to H.5

²⁹ EPA 1999 p. 2.1 and EPA 2004 p. 5.72

³⁰ EPA 2004 p. H.4

³¹ EPA 1999 p. 2.1

 ³² EPA 1999 p. 3.1
³³ EPA 1999 p. 3.1

K_d values for use in contaminant transport codes."³⁴ As a result, partition coefficients measured for the same system using different methodologies "commonly" differ by "over an order of magnitude."35

In the case of radium, additional measurement uncertainties arise due to the potential for precipitation or co-precipitation of radium with other alkaline earth metals. It is known that in moderate to high sulfate containing waters, "precipitation and redissolution of calcium (Ca), strontium (Sr), and barium (Ba) sulfates, rather than adsorption/desorption, could control the concentrations of dissolved radium in the soil environment."³⁶ The direct precipitation of radium sulfate (RaSO₄) is not the controlling solid phase. Generally the most important co-precipitate is (Ba,Ra)SO₄ given that co-precipitation with barium is the preferred method "for the removal of dissolved ²²⁶Ra from effluents from uranium mining and milling operations" and that it "has also been shown to be [an] important process in controlling the solubility of radium in natural waters."³⁷ In general, co-precipitation with alkaline earth metals is likely to be important in tailings which have high concentrations of sulfuric acid and in the Fernald raffinate waste which is known to have a high concentration of sulfates.

As a result of the potential for radium to co-precipitate with other alkaline earth metals, the EPA "cautioned that any data that indicates very high adsorption of radium on geological materials should be suspect due to the possibility that (Ba,Ra)SO₄ co-precipitation may have occurred during the measurement.³⁸ A specific example of where this may have occurred in reported results was the work of Nathwani and Phillips. The EPA noted that their results were "unusually large, and orders of magnitude greater than those reported by most researchers," and that this fact "suggests that precipitation of radium may have occurred during the course of these measurements."³⁹ In their overall summary of studies on radium, the EPA concluded that

It is recommended that the reader review the original reference and the references cited therein to understand the procedures and sources of the K_d values used for each compilation. The compilations do not typically consider important factors that contribute to variability in sorption, such as pH. Moreover, in cases where very large K_d values are listed, there is a risk that the original K_d measurement may have included precipitated components.⁴

Care should be taken in conducting site-specific assessments to ensure that co-precipitation does not lead to the reporting of erroneously large values for the partition coefficient.

Section 2.3 – Limitations of the K_d Approach

While the use of a constant partition coefficient is the most common transport model used in determining regulatory compliance, it has a number of limitations that hinder its usefulness in some real world situations. As summarized by the EPA in 1999

Clearly, the greatest limitation of using K_d values to calculate retardation terms... is that it describes solute partitioning between the aqueous and solid phases for only 1 set of

³⁴ EPA 1999 p. 2.16 ³⁵ EPA 1999 p. 3.2

³⁶ EPA 2004 p. 5.63

³⁷ EPA 2004 p. 5.65 to 5.66

³⁸ EPA 2004 p. 5.66 to 5.67

³⁹ EPA 2004 p. 5.69

⁴⁰ EPA 2004 p. 5.71

environmental conditions. Such homogeneity does not exist in nature and therefore greatly compromises the usefulness of the constant.⁴¹

In a review of the use of the K_d transport model, Bethke and Brady note that

K_d theory works best for trace amounts of nonionized hydrophobic organic molecules, but is too simplistic to accurately represent sorption of ionic species within soils and sediments. The K_d coefficient measured for an ionic species is not meaningful in the general sense but is specific to the sediment and fluid tested. The K_d value for a metal typically varies over many orders of magnitude, depending on fluid pH and composition as well as the nature of the sediment.42

As noted, radium exists in solution as a + 2 cation and it is therefore not surprising that its partition coefficient is strongly dependent on the local aqueous and solid phase chemistry as well as being dependent on the other properties of the soil.

In addition to these general limitation of the K_d approach given the heterogeneity of the partition coefficient across a site, there are additional limitations to the use of this model. Specifically, the constant K_d model does not include a constraint for the total number of adsorption sites available to the contaminants. Without such a constraint there is no way for the K_d models to account for the competition for adsorption sites among chemically similar elements; nor is there a way for the models to account for saturation effects at higher contaminant concentrations. In addition, the constant K_d approach does not take into account the impact of electrostatic effects which arise due to the surface charge induced by adsorbed ions such as radium.⁴³

As noted above, determining an appropriate K_d value can be complicated, and a number of samples are required to ensure that the results are representative of the site. Adding a more detailed analysis requires additional information to the knowns about the site which increases both the complexity and the cost of performing these kinds of site evaluations. As a result, in many cases a suitable value can be chosen such that the constant K_d model is adequate for demonstrating compliance with the performance objectives. However, examples can be found where the use of the K_d model results in inaccurate predictions about the migration of contaminants.⁴⁴ The use of more complex transport models may be required in some cases of radium contamination such as for uranium mine and mill tailings. As summarized by Zhu,

In the situation of active or abandoned mining sites with acid mine drainage problems, the shortcomings of the K_d approach become more severe because mining impacted groundwater systems are reactive, involving multiple components that interact with each other, and are chemically heterogeneous. Multiple, sharp reaction fronts are involved, and these fronts evolve through space and time.⁴⁵

In the case of the Fernald raffinate waste, it may also be required to consider more sophisticated transport models for some disposal sites, given the low pH resulting from the addition of grout to the waste, which would tend to increase the mobility of radium, and the presence of high concentrations of sulfates, which may tend to retard the mobility of radium.

 ⁴¹ EPA 1999 p. 2.19
⁴² Bethke and Brady 2000 p. 437

⁴³ Bethke and Brady 2000 p. 438

⁴⁴ For an example involving lead contamination see Bethke and Brady 2000 and for an example involving sulfate contamination at a uranium mine see Zhu, Hu, and Burden 2001, Zhu, Anderson, and Burden 2002, and Zhu 2003.

⁴⁵ Zhu 2003 p. 352

Section 2.4 – Biota Effects Impacts on Radium Mobility

In addition to the general limitations of the K_d approach, there are additional complications that may arise as a result of the influence of bacteria, plants, and animals on the mobility of radium. Of particular importance is the fact that the barium-radium co-precipitate that can control radium's solubility is not thermodynamically stable under all reducing conditions. As such, "[s]ulfate-reducing bacteria can produce rapid dissolution of (Ba, Ra)SO₄ sludge under suitable reducing conditions and appropriate carbon sources."⁴⁶ For example, Pardue and Guo found that radium in soil "was remobilized under anaerobic sulfate-reducing conditions" and Landa found that radium mobility "was greatly enhanced in the presence of sulfate-reducing bacteria" under anaerobic conditions.⁴⁷

In addition to the dissolution of sulfate precipitates, plants and animals may have additional impacts on soil chemistry or properties that can affect the mobility of radium near the surface. In their 1990 review, the International Atomic Energy Agency summarized these impacts as follows

For the surface layer of soil there exists still another migration mechanism, the mixing due to the activity of soil micro and macro fauna.... It is even very probable that in the upper 20 cm of the soil 'bioturbation', as it is called, surpasses physicochemical transport. An important transfer mechanism is the movement of small animals, but microorganisms also play a role. They produce complexing agents in rather large quantities, just as do the roots of plants. Owing to this complexation, the solubility of radium becomes significantly enhanced. The problems associated with a quantitative description of the impact of this complexation are rather large and are outside the scope of this chapter.⁴⁸

As noted above, radium does not generally form complexes when free in solution, but a number of complexes have been identified experimentally.⁴⁹

Finally, the ATSDR notes that, given its chemical similarity to calcium, radium "may be bioconcentrated and bioaccumulated by plants and animals, and it is transferred in food chains from lower trophic levels to humans."⁵⁰ In support of this conclusion, they note specific examples of where radium in the soil has been transferred to plants, particularly in areas where radium or uranium was mined or processed.⁵¹ In their review on radium mobility, however, the IAEA notes that

Soil to plant transfer factors (B_v 's) are also influenced by various interrelated soil properties, including texture, clay content, dominant clay mineral, cation exchange capacity, exchange cations, pH and organic matter content. Uptake varies with the chemical and physical forms of the nuclides, plant species, plant part and stage of growth, as well as with experimental conditions and the manner in which the isotope is introduced into the soil. As a result, the B_v 's exhibit much more variability than transfer coefficients for animal products. Generic transfer factors for soil to plant can vary by up to 3 orders of magnitude.⁵²

Thus, in cases where the transfer of radium to plants and animals is expected to play an important role in the radionuclide's transport, site-specific measurements of plant transfer functions will also be required as part of conducting site-specific performance assessments.

⁴⁶ EPA 2004 p. 5.66

⁴⁷ Landa 1996 p. 22 and EPA 2004 p. 5.66

⁴⁸ IAEA 1990 p. 328

⁴⁹ EPA 2004 p. 5.64

⁵⁰ ATSDR 1990 p. 48

⁵¹ ATSDR 1990 p. 50

⁵² IAEA 1990b pp. 355-356

Section 2.5 – Conclusions

As summarized by the Environmental Protection Agency in 1999

It is incumbent upon the transport modeler to understand the strengths and weaknesses of the different K_d methods and perhaps more importantly the underlying assumption of the methods in order to properly select K_d values from the literature. The K_d values reported in the literature for any given contaminant may vary by as much as *6 orders of magnitude*. An understanding of the important geochemical processes and knowledge of the important ancillary parameters affecting the sorption chemistry of the contaminant of interest is necessary for selecting appropriate K_d value(s) for contaminant transport modeling.⁵³

While they do report a summary table for radium with geometric mean values reported, the EPA explicitly cautioned against the use of such values in conducting performance assessments. Specifically, the authors of the EPA report emphasized that

The range for the K_d values used to calculate the "geometric mean" cover several orders of magnitude. Readers are cautioned against using "geometric mean" values or any other form of averaged K_d values as "default" K_d values, as such values are usually calculated from data compiled from different investigators for different soil systems. These mean or average values do not represent any particular environmental system and geochemical conditions. As discussed... the variation observed in the literature for K_d values for a contaminant is due to differences in sorption mechanisms, geochemical conditions, soil materials, and methods used for the measurements.⁵⁴

Even for the "minimal" amount of data available for radium, the distribution in results can be significant. For example, the K_d values for radium measured in sandy soils vary by nearly 370 between the largest and smallest values while the range for silty soils is more than 420.⁵⁵

As a result of the lack of information and the site-specific nature of studies on radium's mobility, the ATSDR concluded that

Studies of releases of radium that result from uranium mining and processing would be helpful to fully assess the total amount and environmental fate of radium released to the environment. Field data on the mobility of radium in groundwater would also be helpful in attempts to predict its potential for occurrence in sources of drinking water at remote sites.⁵⁶

This conclusion was reinforced by the EPA in 1999 when they noted that "[s]oil geochemists knowledgeable of sorption processes in natural environments have long known that generic or default K_d values can result in significant error when used to predict the absolute impacts of contaminant migration or site-remediation options."⁵⁷ Finally, in the specific case of radium, the EPA reiterated this conclusion in 2004 and stated that "one of the major recommendations of this report is that for site-specific calculations, partition coefficient values measured at site-specific conditions are absolutely essential."⁵⁸

Performance assessments where radium is an important driver of risk, either directly or indirectly as a source of radon gas, which are predicated on default values of the partition coefficient should not be accepted for regulatory purposes given the EPA's clear and unequivocal conclusion regarding the need

⁵³ EPA 1999 pp. 3.28 to 3.29 (emphasis in the original)

⁵⁴ EPA 2004 p. 5.71

⁵⁵ EPA 2004 p. 5.72

⁵⁶ ATSDR 1990 p. 56

⁵⁷ EPA 1999 p. 1.1

⁵⁸ EPA 2004 p. 5.67 (emphasis in the original)

for site-specific measurements in order to conduct site-specific analyses. The site-specific measurements of the partition coefficient should include adequate sampling to ensure that the results are truly representative of the site. In addition, the measurement methodology should be carefully chosen to best represent the conditions at the site and to avoid artifacts such as sulfate co-precipitation. In many cases a suitably conservative K_d value can be arrived at to adequately model the impacts of the contamination, but at sites with highly concentrated and reactive wastes, consideration should be given to the use of more complex transport models in light of the well known limitations of the K_d approach.

Chapter Three: Plutonium Mobility in the Environment

Plutonium is essentially an anthropogenic radionuclide that is produced in nuclear reactors from naturally occurring radionuclides by neutron capture.⁵⁹ Plutonium belongs to the actinide chemical family and inside the body preferentially goes to the bone. While 15 plutonium isotopes are known to exist, there are only four that are generally considered to be of potential concern in the context of environmental radioactivity:

Isotope	Half life	Specific Activity	Primary Decay Mode	Comments
Plutonium-238	87.7 years	17.3 Ci/gm	alpha	Used to make radioisotope thermoelectric generators
Plutonium-239	24,100 years	0.063 Ci/gm	alpha	Fissile material used in nuclear weapons and mixed- oxide reactor fuel
Plutonium-240	6,540 years	0.23 Ci/gm	alpha	Sometimes decays by spontaneous fission releasing neutrons
Plutonium-241	14.4 years	104 Ci/gm	beta	Decays into americium-241 which is a strong gamma emitter (half life = 432 years)

In addition to plutonium, there are other transuranic elements (i.e., elements with an atomic number greater than uranium) that have been produced by the nuclear complex which may also be of a concern in the environment. These radionuclides include neptunium (Np), americium (Am), and curium (Cm).

As a result of an early belief that transuranic elements would be essentially immobile in the soil,

Prior to 1970, wastes contaminated with such materials were not subject to any special regulations other than very weak ones pertaining to low-level radioactive waste. As a result, they were commonly disposed of along with low-level waste and chemical waste in a variety of ways, including burial in pits and trenches and, in the case of liquid wastes, direct dumping on the ground and injection into wells.⁶⁰

The contamination of soil and water with transuranic elements can pose a significant long-term risk in some cases. As summarized by Fioravanti and Makhijani

Transuranic radionuclides pose special risks. First, the half-lives of some of the most important ones are very long. For example, plutonium-239 has a half-life of over 24,000 years and neptunium-237 has a half-life of over two million years. Despite this, the radioactivity per unit of weight (the "specific activity") for these radionuclides is high enough for tiny quantities of the material to be dangerous. For instance, plutonium-239 is about 100,000 times more radioactive than natural uranium (which consists of a mixture of uranium-238, uranium-235 and a trace of uranium-234). One-millionth of an ounce (about 30 micrograms) of plutonium-239 deposited in small particles in the lung is very likely to induce cancer. Further, alpha radiation is far more damaging per unit of energy deposited in the body relative to gamma and beta radiation. The high concentrations of long-lived radionuclides in TRU waste require this

⁵⁹ Trace quantities of plutonium are generated generated naturally, but essentially all plutonium in the environment today has been produced by humans.

⁶⁰ Fioravanti and Makhijani 1997 p. 50

waste to be disposed of in a geologic repository under Environmental Protection Agency rules similar to those for high-level waste (codified in 40 CFR 191).⁶¹

Already plutonium from the DOE nuclear weapons production and testing program can be found in the surface waters and groundwater at a number of sites.⁶² In fact, plutonium contamination has been specifically identified at nine of the Superfund National Priorities List sites.⁶³

Like many contaminants, plutonium dissolved in groundwater or surface water can adsorb onto soil through ion exchange. As it is for radium, the strength of this interaction for a given set of chemical conditions and soil properties can be quantified in terms of the partition coefficient (K_d). The partition coefficient is an equilibrium property that relates the concentration of a contaminant adsorbed onto the solid phase to that dissolved in the liquid phase.⁶⁴ This definition results in the partition coefficient having the somewhat unusual units of liters per kilogram (L/kg) or, equivalently, milliliters per gram (ml/gm).

 K_d = concentration in the solid phase (pCi/kg) / concentration in the liquid phase (pCi/L)

A large value of the partition coefficient, therefore, implies that the contaminant is tightly bound to the soil and will migrate slowly, while a small value implies the opposite.

The measured values of K_d for plutonium have shown a wide range "from low to extremely high affinities."⁶⁵ Typical values range from 11 L/kg to as much as 300,000 L/kg. Over a wider range of pH values, the values of K_d measured just at the Hanford site alone have shown variation over more than three orders of magnitude.⁶⁶ These variations in K_d for plutonium are not unexpected given the sensitivity to the local chemical and physical properties of the soil and the other limitations inherent with the constant K_d model with respect to the transport behavior of heavy metal contamination (see Section 2.3 for a further discussion of these issues). In addition to adsorption, a number of other physical and chemical processes are known to be important for plutonium in many cases. These include such things as the changes in the oxidative state of the plutonium through redox transformations, the transport of plutonium on colloidal particles, the formation of chemical complexes with greater mobility, and the precipitation or co-precipitation of solid contaminant phases.⁶⁷ Despite the significant effort that has been expended on studying the migration of plutonium, there remain significant areas of uncertainty. As summarized by Duff in 2001 "sorption, co-precipitation and oxidation state speciation behavior of Pu on geologic materials is poorly understood."⁶⁸

Finally, when dealing with sites that are contaminated with other transuranic elements, it is important to consider decay and ingrowth of elements which may have significantly different mobility or half lives. For example, the beta decay of plutonium-241 (half life 14.3 years) into americium-241 (half life 432 years) which in turn decays via alpha emission into neptunium-237 (half life 2.14 million

⁶¹ Fioravanti and Makhijani 1997 p. 57

⁶² Fioravanti and Makhijani 1997 p. 50-147, Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 92-93, and Hinton and Pinder 2001 p. 415-418

⁶³ EPÅ 1999b p. 5.35

⁶⁴ EPA 1999 p. 2.16 to 2.18

⁶⁵ EPA 1999b p. 5.34

⁶⁶ EPA 1999b p. 5.34 and Cantrell, Serne, and Last 2003 p. 28-30

⁶⁷ Rai and Serne 1977 p. 94-95, Fjeld et al. 2003, and Kaplan et al. 2004

⁶⁸ Duff 2001 p. 153

years) has been found to be an important series to consider in an assessment at the Nevada Test Site.⁶⁹ Another example is the alpha decay of curium-244 (half life 18.1 years) into plutonium-240 (half life 6,540 years). The decay of curium into plutonium has, in fact, already been found to have had a measurable impact on the transport of contaminants at the Savannah River Site.

We will first review the oxidation states for plutonium and what environmental conditions can affect it. Second, we examine the formation of plutonium complexes with organic and inorganic compounds which can increase the mobility of plutonium. Third, we will review the evidence surrounding the transport of plutonium and other transuranics on colloidal particles. Fourth, we will examine the mobilization of sediment bound plutonium via erosion and flooding at Los Alamos National Laboratory. Fifth, and finally, we will briefly discuss the impacts biota can have on the mobility of plutonium.

Section 3.1 – Oxidation States of Plutonium

Under typical environmental conditions, plutonium is known to exist in four different oxidation states (i.e. +3, +4, +5, and +6). Under reducing conditions, the +3 and +4 oxidation states would be the most stable with the +3 state dominating at pH values below 8.5 and +4 state dominating at pH values above 8.5. Under oxidizing conditions the +4, +5, and +6 oxidation states exist at pH values above 4.0. The EPA reports that "[a] number of investigators believe that under oxidizing conditions, the +5 state to be [sic] the dominant redox state."⁷⁰ Choppin and Morgenstern conclude that "[i]n most natural systems" plutonium is found in the +4 and +5 oxidation states. They go on to note that, while dissolved plutonium can be in either the +4 or +5 redox state, "most adsorbed plutonium" is found to be in the +4 redox state.⁷¹

The oxidation state of plutonium can have a significant impact on the mobility of the contaminant. This is particularly true given the range of redox states that are possible for plutonium in the environment.⁷² In fact, Choppin and Morgenstern conclude that

The most important property of plutonium with respect to its environmental behavior is its oxidation state because solubility, hydrolysis, complexation, sorption and colloid formation reactions differ significantly from one oxidation state to another.⁷³

The +5 and +6 oxidation states are typically more mobile in groundwater than the +3 or +4 redox states.⁷⁴ For example, an 11 year study at the Savannah River Site found that, if the oxidation of plutonium in the environment was not considered, the mobility of the radionuclide would be underestimated by approximately three and half times.⁷⁵ In addition, studies of plutonium in Lake Michigan and in Gull Pond, Massachusetts, have concluded that the influence of iron-magnesium redox reactions in deep anoxic waters significantly increased the amount of dissolved plutonium during certain times of the year.⁷⁶ However, investigations in contaminated ponds on the Savannah River Site found no such increase in plutonium concentrations that could be associated with redox reactions, and instead Hinton and Pinder believe that the observed increase at SRS during the summer

⁶⁹ Hu et al. 2003 p. 44

⁷⁰ EPA 1999b p. 5.35

⁷¹ Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 102

⁷² Skipperud, Oughton, and Salbu 2000 p. 82-83 and NABIR 2003 p. 23

⁷³ Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 93

⁷⁴ Ohnuki et al. 2003

⁷⁵ Kaplan et al. 2004

⁷⁶ Sholkovitz 1983 p. 144-145 and Hinton and Pinder 2001 p. 427 and 433

was due to a redistribution of the plutonium that was already dissolved in the ponds, and not to an increase in contaminant mobility from the sediments.⁷⁷ As summarized by Duff in 2001, "[w]ithout site-specific information on Pu speciation behavior in the geologic environment, it is difficult to assess the mobility and dynamics of Pu in nature."⁷⁸

Given the importance of plutonium's oxidation state to its mobility, it is necessary for risk assessment to carefully consider all of the factors that may influence it at a given site. This task is complicated by the fact that the oxidation state of plutonium depends both on how the contaminant was originally formed and released to the environment as well as on the environmental conditions that it is exposed to following placement. Factors that are known to affect the redox state of plutonium include the ambient temperature, the presence of organic matter and other complexants, the alkalinity and pH of the water, the presence of certain types of bacteria, and the impacts of radiolysis.⁷⁹ The influence of environmental conditions on the redox state of plutonium can result in contamination becoming either more or less mobile over time. Therefore, as noted by Duff, "a once highly stable form of Pu contamination may eventually become a very active source-term to the surrounding environment."⁸⁰ The interplay between plutonium's oxidation state and the environmental conditions it encounters are important to keep in mind throughout the discussion in the following two sections in which the impact of complexing agents and colloids on plutonium transport is reviewed.

Section 3.2 – Complexing Agents

Plutonium is known to form a number of complexes with organic and inorganic agents. As summarized by the Environmental Protection Agency

Dissolved plutonium forms complexes with various inorganic ligands such as hydroxyl, carbonate, nitrate, sulfate, phosphate, chloride, bromide, and fluoride; with many naturally occurring organic ligands such as acetate, citrate, formate, fulvate, humate, lactate, oxalate, and tartrate; and with synthetic organic ligands such as EDTA and 8-hydroxyquinoline derivatives.⁸¹

The presence of these complexing agents in the environment can also alter the oxidation state of plutonium and thus can have multiple impacts on its mobility.

Choppin and Morgenstern note that "[a] significant fraction of the total amount of plutonium that has been released in terrestrial and aquatic environments appears to be associated with humic substances."⁸² These organic materials can reduce plutonium from higher oxidation states to lower states. In "anoxic waters under strongly reducing conditions" complexes of plutonium in the +3 oxidation state with the humic material may also play a significant role in determining the speciation of the contaminants.⁸³ In addition, "microbially produced complexing ligands such as citric acid" may also affect the mobility of plutonium in the environment.⁸⁴ In fact, the EPA concluded that, when the pH is low (i.e. at pH values below about 5 or 6), and when there are "high concentrations of dissolved

⁸² Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 98

⁸⁴ NABIR p. 23

⁷⁷ Hinton and Pinder 2001 p. 427 and 433

⁷⁸ Duff 2001 p. 154

⁷⁹ Sholkovitz 1983 p. 100-101 and 106, EPA 1999b p. 5.35, and Ohnuki et al. 2003

⁸⁰ Duff 2001 p. 141

⁸¹ EPA 1999b p. 5.35

⁸³ Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 98 and 102

organic carbon, it appears that plutonium-organic complexes may be control [sic] adsorption and mobility of plutonium in the environment."⁸⁵

In cases where organic ligands were initially disposed of along with plutonium bearing wastes, it may be important to consider the degradation of these organic materials over time given the long half lives of plutonium-239 and plutonium-240. The degradation of organic agents in the waste will change the environmental chemistry of plutonium resulting in inhomogeneous migration over time.⁸⁶ For example, while the transport mechanisms are not yet fully understood, in discussions of contamination found at disposal sites near the Plutonium Finishing Plant at Hanford, it was noted as a possibility that "transuranics could be adsorbed by the soil column after degradation of the organic complexing agents."⁸⁷

At pH values above 7, the EPA notes that the mobility of plutonium can be influenced by "concentrations of dissolved carbonate and hydroxyl ions" and that the "hydroxy-carbonate mixed ligand complexes" are "[a]mong the strongest complexes of plutonium" known to exist in the environment.⁸⁸ These complexes can inhibit the adsorption of plutonium, and thus increase its mobility in the +4 and +5 oxidation states. In addition, "[p]henomenon similar to the reduction and suppression of plutonium adsorption in the presence of carbonate ions have also been observed for other actinides which also form strong hydroxy-carbonate mixed ligand aqueous species."⁸⁹ In summary, the EPA concluded that "[t]hese data suggest that plutonium would be most mobile in high pH carbonate-rich groundwaters."⁹⁰

Finally, in some waste streams, such as at Hanford, there are synthetic chemicals that were added to the waste which act to enhance the mobility of plutonium. Specifically, ethylenediaminetetraacetate (EDTA), "a synthetic chelator that was used during the production and processing of plutonium" and which is "widely present in the mixed wastes at the Hanford site" is known to reduce the adsorption of plutonium onto soil when present at high concentrations.⁹¹ Care must be taken to consider the concentration of EDTA remaining in the waste given that the EPA noted that it is "unlikely that such concentrations of these synthetic ligands [including EDTA at one millimole per liter] would exist in soils."⁹² The impact of EDTA on plutonium mobility relates both to its ability to form stable complexes with the contaminant as well as its ability to adsorb onto the soil itself, thus reducing the number of surface sites available for plutonium adsorption.⁹³ The inability of the constant K_d model to treat the competition of different materials for the same surface adsorption sites and the model's inability to treat saturation effects are known to be important limitations of this approach (see Section 2.3).

⁸⁵ EPA 1999b p. 5.34 and 5.36

⁸⁶ Rai, Serne, and Moore 1980

⁸⁷ Dirkes, Hanf, Poston 1999 p. 6.90

⁸⁸ EPA 1999b p. 5.34 and 5.36

⁸⁹ EPA 1999b p. 5.40

⁹⁰ EPA 1999b p. 5.40

⁹¹ NABIR p. 23 and Hakem, Allen, and Sylwester 1999 p. 1

⁹² EPA 1999b p. 5.42

⁹³ Hakem, Allen, and Sylwester 1999 p. 8 and 10

Section 3.3 – Colloid Mediated Transport

In addition to the formation of complexes, one of the other important processes that can affect the transport of plutonium and other transuranic elements is their ability to adsorb to colloidal particles. Colloids are small particles that occur naturally and are easily suspended in ground and surface water. These particles can be "either inorganic (mineral fragments and secondary minerals of the host rock), or organic material."⁹⁴ Actinides that are in the oxide or hydroxide phase can also aggregate to form "intrinsic colloid" of pure material.⁹⁵ Typically the upper size limit for colloids is considered to be one micron, but the definition is sometimes restricted to particles that are smaller than clay (i.e. approximately 0.24 microns).⁹⁶ Choppin and Morgenstern note that "[d]epending on their size and charge relative to the surrounding solid phase, colloids can move more slowly or more rapidly than the average groundwater flow," and thus, the adsorption of transuranic elements onto the surface of colloids may either enhance or retard their mobility.⁹⁷

The potential for colloidal transport to affect the mobility of contaminants like plutonium was recognized more than 50 years ago.⁹⁸ While the colloid transport pathway has been known for some time, the interest of researchers in the ability for colloids to enhance the mobility of plutonium in the environment was heightened by the discovery that plutonium from at least one nuclear weapons test at the Nevada Test Site had migrated as much as 1.3 kilometers in approximately 30 years. Kersting et al., the researchers who reported this discovery, concluded that "[m]odels that either predict limited transport or do not allow for colloid-facilitated transport may thus significantly underestimate the extent of radionuclide migration."99 Additional experiments have affirmed the conclusion that the mobility of plutonium and other transuranic element could, under certain conditions, be much higher than earlier models would have predicted due to adsorption on colloids.¹⁰⁰

Depending on the environmental conditions, plutonium is capable of adsorbing to a wide variety of organic and inorganic colloids.¹⁰¹ Like its ability to form chemical complexes, the absorption of plutonium onto colloids is affected by its oxidative state. Choppin and Morgenstern note that "[t]he mechanism of the formation of actinide associative colloids has been shown to be closely related to the hydrolysis of the actinide ions" and the "strong tendency" of plutonium in the +4 oxidation state "to undergo hydrolysis thus favors its sorption onto colloidal particles."¹⁰² In this light, it is important to note that the oxidation state of dissolved plutonium has itself been found to be depend "on the colloidal organic carbon content in the system.¹⁰³ The interplay of the redox state of the plutonium and the presence of colloidal material should therefore be carefully considered. In addition to its impact on the redox state of plutonium, Santschi et al. note that "[o]rganic matter can modify the surface charge and characteristics of particle and colloid aggregates" and that, therefore, "[d]epending on the type of natural organic matter, particles and colloids can aggregate ('coagulate') or

⁹⁴ Kersting et al. 1998 p. 76

⁹⁵ Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 98-99, EPA 1999 p. 2.39, and Kersting et al. 1998 p. 76

⁹⁶ Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 98, EPA 1999 p. 2.37, and Kersting et al. 1998 p. 76

⁹⁷ Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 98

⁹⁸ Gephart 2003 p. 5.33

⁹⁹ Kersting et al. 1999 p. 59

¹⁰⁰ See for example Runde et al. 2002 p. 837 and 849-850, Toulhoat 2002 p. 978 and 980-981, Schäfer et al. 2003 p. 1528 and 1533, and Lu et al. 2003 p. 713 and 719.

¹⁰¹ Buesseler et al. 2003 p. 3-6, Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001, Contardi, Turner, and Ahn 2001, EPA 1999b, p. 5.35 and 5.41-42, and Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 98-99¹⁰² Choppin and Morgenstern 2001 p. 99

¹⁰³ EPA 1999b p. 5.41-42

disaggregate" affecting their ability to remain suspended, and thus affecting their ability to be transported through the environment.¹⁰⁴

While the primary focus of research has been on plutonium, it is also known that other transuranic elements can adsorb to colloids under certain conditions. The difference in these elements preference for binding to colloids can, therefore, lead to different types of mobility for different transuranics. For example, it was found at Los Alamos that "plutonium was associated with the largest size class of colloids, while most americium was either in solution or associated with very small colloids."¹⁰⁵ As a result, the "uncharged colloid is slowly removed from solution, accounting for the greater removal of plutonium relative to americium."¹⁰⁶ Thus, the weaker adsorption of americium on the types of colloids present in this case could further increase its mobility relative to plutonium.

Given the highly site-specific nature of the colloidal transport pathway, we will consider the evidence for and against colloid mediated transport at a five DOE facilities. In addition, a discussion of plutonium migration at the Idaho National Laboratory (formerly the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory) can be found in the IEER report *Poison in the Vadose Zone*.¹⁰⁷ Despite the significant increase in knowledge that has been gained over the past decade, there remain significant uncertainties at many sites as to how plutonium is migrating. As noted by Contardi et al., "[e]ven in situations where plutonium transport has been documented it is often difficult to determine what mechanism was responsible."¹⁰⁸

As highlighted above, Kersting et al. reported in 1999 that plutonium from an underground nuclear weapon test at the Nevada Test Site had migrated much further than originally expected. These researchers found "[t]ritium, and low concentrations of cobalt, cesium, europium and plutonium isotopes" in sample taken from "two aquifers downgradient from an underground nuclear event."¹⁰⁹ After filtering the samples to select particles of various sizes, Kersting et al. found that, "[e]xcept for tritium, greater than 95% of the measured radioactivity was associated with particulate and colloidal fractions consisting of predominately clays [illite and smectite] and zeolites [mordenite and clinoptilolite/heulandite]."¹¹⁰ As a result, the researchers concluded that "[t]his finding and the previously reported results of Pu sorption experiments are most consistent with Pu migrating as colloidal material and not as a dissolved phase" and "that modeling radionuclide transport based solely on solubility arguments will severely underestimate the transport of radionuclides associated with colloids."¹¹¹

However, as noted by Honeyman,

... three conditions must be met for defensible evidence that colloids have transported contaminants: first, colloids must be present; second, contaminants must associate with them; and third, the colloid-contaminant combination must move through the aquifer. The results of Kersting et al. qualitatively meet the first two conditions. But, as the authors point out, the possibility of sampling artifacts meant that they could not quantify some of the parameters

¹⁰⁴ Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001 p. 3

¹⁰⁵ Nelson and Orlandini 1986 p. 3-10

¹⁰⁶ Nelson and Orlandini 1986 p. 3-12

¹⁰⁷ Makhijani and Boyd p. 92-102

¹⁰⁸ Contardi, Turner, and Ahn 2001 p. 324

¹⁰⁹ Kersting et al. 1998 p. 76

¹¹⁰ Kersting et al. 1998 p. 76 and 80

¹¹¹ Kersting et al. 1998 p. 83

needed for supporting the detailed assessment of colloid-facilitated Pu transport in their study. That is, the third condition has not been rigorously met.¹¹²

Despite this caution, Honeyman does go on to note that, "[n]evertheless, their work clearly shows that a low-solubility contaminant traveled some way from the source, perhaps at or near the local groundwater flow velocity."¹¹³

The findings of Kersting et al. have particular significance for the proposed Yucca Mountain repository, which sits on the Nevada Test Site. As noted by Duff, "waste-form glasses can potentially release Pu-containing colloids, a process that could result in enhanced Pu mobility via colloid transport in the subsurface."¹¹⁴ This could be important given the evidence of colloidal transport at the Nevada Test Site and the plans to dispose of vitrified high-level waste at Yucca Mountain. While there remains a debate over the significance of colloidal transport of plutonium, the models used by the DOE in their performance assessment of Yucca Mountain do include some consideration of colloid mediated transport. However, despite the fact that multiple colloidal phases have been found in the groundwater at the Nevada Test Site, including some that are known to have a particularly high capacity for incorporating actinides, the performance assessment for Yucca Mountain restricted its analysis to only two types of colloids.¹¹⁵

In addition to the findings of Kersting et al. at the Nevada Test Site, Santschi et al. found that, at Rocky Flats, "most of the ^{239,240}Pu and ²⁴¹Am transported from contaminated soils to streams occurred in the particulate (> 0.45 μ m, 40-90%) and colloidal (3kDa [kilodaltons] - 0.45 μ m, 10-60%) phases."¹¹⁶ They went on to conclude that "colloidal Pu formation can become one of the most important vectors for enhancing Pu dispersion at Rocky Flats."¹¹⁷ At this site, Santschi et al. found that the mobile plutonium was "mostly associated with organic (humic or fulvics) rather than with the more abundant inorganic (iron oxide and clay) colloids" and that the "remobilization of colloid-bound Pu during soil erosion events can be enhanced by humic and fulvic acids."¹¹⁸

While the colloidal transport of plutonium at Los Alamos National Laboratory was believed to be important by Penrose et al. in a study published in 1990 as part of the DOE's Subsurface Science Program, a 1997 study by Marty et al. has disputed the significance of colloids for long distance contaminant transport. Penrose et al. found plutonium and americium in samples drawn from wells as far as 3.39 kilometers down gradient from the point at which waste was discharged into Mortandad Canyon.¹¹⁹ The authors found that "the plutonium and part of the americium are tightly or irreversibly associated with colloidal material between 25 and 450 nm in size" and that "[t]he mobile forms of these actinides defeat the forces that normally act to retard their movement through groundwater systems."¹²⁰ While the authors considered the possibility that flooding caused by storms could be responsible for the transport of these radionuclides, they concluded that "the tritium oxide transit time measurements suggest that the majority of water movement takes place in the subsurface."¹²¹

¹¹² Honeyman 1999

¹¹³ Honeyman 1999

¹¹⁴ Duff 2001 p. 144

¹¹⁵ Long and Ewing 2004 p. 381

¹¹⁶ Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001 p. 2

¹¹⁷ Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001 p. 2

¹¹⁸ Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001 p. 2

¹¹⁹ Penrose et al. 1990 p. 228

¹²⁰ Penrose et al. 1990 p. 228

¹²¹ Penrose et al. 1990 p. 228

Reanalyzing the data in 1997, Marty et al. acknowledged that "plutonium has been detected in groundwater as far as 3.4 km from the effluent outfall" and that they cannot conclusively determine the transport mechanism.¹²² However, Marty et al. noted that

²³⁹Pu entering the canyon increased sharply in the early 1980s. Routine monitoring during this period shows that isotopically distinct plutonium appeared in one downgradient well before it appeared in wells closer to the source. If this is ignored, plutonium moved at least twice as fast as groundwater flow and easily outdistance a tritium peak. Isotopically heavy plutonium arrived simultaneously in surface alluvium and groundwater, and the isotopic composition of plutonium in alluvium and groundwater are identical.¹²³

From these observations, the authors concluded that "[p]lutonium clearly did not move downcanyon via groundwater" and that "[t]he potential for plutonium movement through groundwater on colloids may be overstated at this and other sites.¹²⁴ While they acknowledge that "colloidal transport of plutonium over short distances (meters or tens of meters) in the canyon cannot be discounted by the current discussion" they believe that "plutonium must have moved across the surface before entering the monitoring wells."¹²⁵ In support of this conclusion they note the significance of flooding following storms to contaminant transport in the canyons at Los Alamos.¹²⁶

Determining the mechanisms that have led to such rapid migration of plutonium in the canyons at Los Alamos is particularly important given the large discrepancy that has been discovered in LANL's estimates of how much plutonium has been discharged to waste. A recent analysis by IEER has concluded that approximately 300 kilograms of plutonium is unaccounted for at Los Alamos when the information in the Nuclear Materials Management and Safeguards System is compared to all available information on plutonium in waste at Los Alamos, including that which is retrievably stored, dispersed by hydronuclear tests, or buried at shallow or intermediate depths.¹²⁷ If a significant fraction of this unaccounted for plutonium is actually buried onsite, then it would pose a significant health and environmental hazard.

Finally, at both Hanford and the Savannah River Site, it is not currently believed that colloidal transport of plutonium has played a major role in contaminant mobility. At Hanford, plutonium is among the radionuclides that have leaked from the waste tanks in the 200 Area and plutonium has been found in the groundwater beneath this site.¹²⁸ Plutonium has also been detected at "extremely low" levels beneath the 100-K area at Hanford where the KE and KW reactors were operated.¹²⁹ In addition, sediments from along the Columbia River and behind the McNary Dam have also shown evidence of contamination with plutonium and other radionuclides from the Hanford facility.¹³⁰ Despite this evidence of migrating contamination, however, Dai et al. noted that "[s]ize fractionation data from two wells [in the 100-K area] suggest that 7-29% of the Pu is associated with colloids."¹³¹ From this the authors concluded that "neither the low fraction of colloidal Pu, nor the decreased

¹²² Marty, Bennett, and Thullen 1997 p. 2021

¹²³ Marty, Bennett, and Thullen 1997 p. 2020

¹²⁴ Marty, Bennett, and Thullen 1997 p. 2020

¹²⁵ Marty, Bennett, and Thullen 1997 p. 2026

¹²⁶ Marty, Bennett, and Thullen 1997 p. 2020-2021

¹²⁷ Makhijani and Smith 2006

¹²⁸ Gephart 2003 p. 5.34-5.40

¹²⁹ Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004 p. 2

¹³⁰ Gephart 2003 p. 5.43-5.44

¹³¹ Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004 p. 2

concentration of Pu in the downstream well supports enhanced transport of groundwater Pu colloids at this site."¹³²

At the Savannah River Site, there have been observations of plutonium-238 associated with colloidal material.¹³³ However, the plutonium-239/240 contamination studied has shown little evidence of being transported by colloids. For example, Dai et al. found "that < 4% of the ²³⁹Pu or ²⁴⁰Pu is found in the colloidal fraction."¹³⁴ As such Dai et al. noted that "[t]he observation of a low abundance of colloid-associated Pu in SRS groundwater cannot be extrapolated to all sites, but is in contrast to the conclusions of prior groundwater Pu studies at the SRS and elsewhere."¹³⁵

One of the main reasons for the lack of adsorption to colloids at SRS is the fact that, unlike Hanford where much of the plutonium is in a reduced chemical state, the vast majority of plutonium detected near the seepage basins at Savannah River Site was oxidized.¹³⁶ The difference in the plutonium oxidation state between SRS and Hanford is not due solely to the differences in their environmental chemistries. At SRS it has been discovered that the decay of curium-244 (half life 18.1 years) into plutnonium-240 after the curium has been transported away from the seepage ponds is an important contributor to the apparent rapid migration of plutonium at the site. As noted by Dai et al., "because α spectrometric methods measure combined ²³⁹Pu and ²⁴⁰Pu activity… all ^{239,240}Pu was mistakenly presumed to derive from Pu seepage basin discharges."¹³⁷ The importance of curium migration and decay is consistent with the observation of the higher oxidation state for plutonium.¹³⁸ Thus, as Dai et al. summarize, "looking for geochemical reasons to explain groundwater Pu speciation variability between SRS and Hanford Site is complicated by this ²⁴⁴Cm source of oxidized ²⁴⁰Pu at SRS."¹³⁹

If these results from SRS hold true more generally, it may have a significant impact on the evaluation of long-term environmental risk at some sites. While the magnitude of the discharges of curium was typically far smaller than plutonium, and thus often not considered to be as significant a risk, the discharges of curium-244 could be important if it is more mobile in the environment given its decay into a long-lived plutonium daughter.¹⁴⁰

Section 3.4 – Erosion and Surface Water Transport

Plutonium adsorbed onto sediment at the bottom of rivers or lakes may become mobilized by resuspension. For example, a study of the Rhone River in Europe found that "after a resuspension event, the plutonium activity increased by a factor or 2 to 3 both in its particulate and dissolved phases" which indicates "the existence of a plutonium desorption process during resuspension events."¹⁴¹ In their study of plutonium behavior in the lakes on the Savannah River Site, Hinton and Pinder concluded that "[t]he timing of the winter remobilization suggests that resuspension of plutonium-bearing sediment particles by bottom currents or wave action in near-shore sediments may

¹³² Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004 p. 18

¹³³ Loyland Asbury, Lamont, and Clark 2001 p. 2299-2300

¹³⁴ Dai, Kelley, and Buesseler 2002 p. 3690

¹³⁵ Dai, Kelley, and Buesseler 2002 p. 3690

¹³⁶ Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004 p. 2-3

¹³⁷ Dai, Kelley, and Buesseler 2002 p. 3698

¹³⁸ Dai, Kelley, and Buesseler 2002 p. 3690-3691 and Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004 p. 3 and 18

¹³⁹ Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004 p. 17

¹⁴⁰ Buesseler et al. 2003 p. 6 and 26-27

¹⁴¹ Lansard et al. 2003 p. 99-100

be important."¹⁴² Further, Santschi et al. concluded that "aggregation and disaggregation processes" occurring during soil erosion are important factors in the migration of plutonium via surface water at Rocky Flats.¹⁴³

One of the areas where the transport of plutonium via surface water is known to be a particularly important pathway is the Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). Canyons surrounding the Los Alamos laboratory were contaminated with plutonium due to the early waste management practices of the lab. In his 1994 book entitled *Plutonium and the Rio Grande*, Graf concluded that

Sediments in Los Alamos Canyon impregnated with plutonium move down the canyon system in a stepwise fashion, with each step taken as a few meters to a few kilometers during each flood event. Each flood stores the sediments as channel or flood-plain deposits, and each subsequent flood remobilizes them until they reach the Rio Grande.¹⁴⁴

and later that

Surface water is the main driving force behind the movement of plutonium through the surface system of northern New Mexico. The energy represented by the water is expended partly by the moving sediments and associated plutonium from one place to another and partly by the mixing and dispersion of contaminants.¹⁴⁵

To give a sense of scale to the importance of this pathway, Graf notes that "[i]n just one storm at Los Alamos, surface water run off transported 1 to 2 percent of the entire sediment-bound inventory of plutonium."¹⁴⁶ In this context, it is important to note that the sorting processes that redeposit the sediments of different grain sizes in different locations can result in a spatially inhomogeneous distribution of plutonium that should be taken into account when remediation efforts are undertaken.¹⁴⁷ In addition to its influence on redeposition, the grain size of the sediments to which the plutonium is adsorbed at Los Alamos can be used to help identify whether the contamination is from the laboratory or is a result of nuclear weapons testing. Based on the fact that fallout plutonium is "mostly associated with fine-grained materials and suspended sediments, whereas the inputs from Los Alamos are mostly associated with coarse particles and bedload," Graf estimates that plutonium from LANL accounts for only about 10 percent of the total amount in the "basin upstream from the confluence of the Rio Grande and Los Alamos Canyon," but that this contamination is a concern because it "is concentrated in only a few places."¹⁴⁸

The significance of the surface water transport pathway has increased since May 2000 when the Cerro Grande fire burned approximately 43,000 acres in and around Los Alamos laboratory. During this fire, nearly 80 percent of the watershed feeding Pueblo Canyon was "subjected to a high intensity burn."¹⁴⁹ This loss of vegetation has led to increased erosion in the areas around the canyon, particularly during the flooding that follows storm events. The increased erosion has led to a corresponding increase in the transport of contaminants located near the surface.¹⁵⁰ Measurable quantities of plutonium have been detected being swept out of Pueblo Canyon by storm runoff following the Cerro Grande fire. As might be expected, the amount of plutonium activity resuspended

- ¹⁴⁷ Graf 1994 p. 12
- ¹⁴⁸ Graf 1994 p. 64-65, 149-150, and 235

¹⁴² Hinton and Pinder 2001 p. 426

¹⁴³ Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001 p. 3

¹⁴⁴ Graf 1994 p. 127

¹⁴⁵ Graf 1994 p. 235

¹⁴⁶ Graf 1994 p. 10

¹⁴⁹ Englert, Ford-Schmid, and Bransford 2003 p. 2

¹⁵⁰ Englert, Ford-Schmid, and Bransford 2003 p. 2, 12-13, and 30

by the flooding generally increases with increasing rates of water flow.¹⁵¹ The rate of plutonium migration during storms was found to be highly inhomogeneous. For example, in one 10 hour storm event in June 2002, 97 percent of the plutonium was estimated to have been washed away within the first five hours.¹⁵²

One of the most significant floods with respect to plutonium migration at LANL occurred on July 2, 2001. During this flood, the laboratory's automated sampling system did not function properly and was therefore not able to estimate the amount of plutonium being washed down Pueblo Canyon. The New Mexico Environment Department, however, did take a grab sample and was able to make an estimate. The plutonium-239/240 activity measured in the grab sample was 250 picocuries per liter. This was nearly 16.7 times higher than the gross alpha limit for drinking water and nearly 1,670 times higher than the surface water standard set by the State of Colorado for areas around Rocky Flats.¹⁵³ A LANL report concluded that "[t]he recent floods seen since the Cerro Grande fire contribute pulses of plutonium into the Rio Grande, likely not seen since the 1960s."¹⁵⁴ All told, the amount of contaminants measured in the storm runoff for the year 2001 were "the highest ever recorded for plutonium-239, -240" and the increase was attributed "to increased storm runoff after the Cerro Grande fire."¹⁵⁵

Section 3.5 – Biota Impacts

Finally, as is typical of heavy metals, the amount of plutonium that is taken up into plants is several orders of magnitude less than the amount present in the soil. As such, transfer to vegetation is not likely to play a significant role in the transport of plutonium.¹⁵⁶ Despite this, however, there are other biota effects that can impact the migration of plutonium. The roots of plants as well as microbes and funguses can introduce agents that enhance the formation of complexes which inhibit the adsorption of plutonium onto soil and thus enhance its mobility.¹⁵⁷ In addition, some types of bacteria can have multiple impacts on the adsorption of plutonium. For example, in experiments with the bacteria *Bacillus subtilis*, it was found that between 80 and 90 percent of the plutonium was adsorbed by the bacteria at the end of the first day. In addition, it was observed that the plutonium was converted from the +6 oxidation state to the +5 state "within 2 hours" and that roughly four-fifths of the sorbed plutonium was in the +4 oxidation state after 48 hours.¹⁵⁸ The enhanced mobility of plutonium in the presence of bacteria has been attributed to the production of "extracellular metabolic products, organic acids, such as citric acid, and sequestering agents, such as siderophores."¹⁵⁹ The impact of bacteria in the environment is complicated by the fact that, in some instances, the reduction of plutonium to lower redox states may inhibit its mobility, and by the possibility that living bacteria may act as colloids themselves upon which the plutonium may adsorb, thus increasing its mobility.¹⁶⁰ A detailed examination is beyond the scope of this report.

¹⁵¹ Englert, Ford-Schmid, and Bransford 2003 p. 15

¹⁵² Englert, Ford-Schmid, and Bransford 2003 p. 15 and 17

¹⁵³ [LANL 2002 p. 189, 40 CFR 141 p. 441-443, and Colorado Reg. 31, 2005] IEER has recommended that the EPA adopt a 0.15 picocuries per year limit as the new drinking water standard for alpha emitting transuranic radionuclides during its 2006 review of the Safe Drinking Water Act standards. [Makhijani 2005]

¹⁵⁴ LANL 2002 p. 189

¹⁵⁵ LANL 2002 p. 190

¹⁵⁶ Graf 1994 p. 107

¹⁵⁷ Negri and Orlandini 1995 p. 5

¹⁵⁸ Ohnuki et al. 2003

¹⁵⁹ Francis 2001 p. 201

¹⁶⁰ Francis 2001 p. 206-211 and 216-217

Section 3.6 – Conclusions

Discussing the difficulties encountered when developing models for the performance of a high-level waste repository, the National Research Council concluded that "[s]imply stated, a transport model is only as good as the conceptualizations of the properties and processes that govern radionuclide transport on which it is based.¹⁶¹ This sentiment holds true for assessments of plutonium migration through the environment as well. The Environmental Protection Agency has acknowledged that

Soil geochemists knowledgeable of sorption processes in natural environments have long known that generic or default K_d values can result in significant error when used to predict the absolute impacts of contaminant migration or site-remediation options.¹⁶²

Beyond the general limitations of the constant K_d approach, the importance of redox transformations, complex formation, colloidal transport, and surface erosion and sediment transport combine to make determinations of plutonium migration a difficult and highly site-specific challenge.

Given the very wide range of K_d values found, even across a single site like Hanford, any performance assessment where plutonium or other transuranic elements are an important driver of risk which is predicated on default values of the partition coefficient should not be accepted for regulatory purposes. At a minimum, an effort should be undertaken to determine a well founded site-specific value for K_{d} . The site-specific measurements of the partition coefficient should include adequate sampling to ensure that the results are truly representative of the site and the redox state of the contamination. In addition, the measurement methodology should be carefully chosen to best represent the conditions at the site.

In cases where erosion and surface water transport or colloid-mediated transport are potentially important or where there are high concentrations of complexing agents present that may change over space and time, it is not likely that a realistic K_d value can be arrived at to adequately model the migration of the contamination. At such sites, a more complex transport model should be used that takes these other pathways into account, particularly in light of the well known limitations of the K_d approach and the relatively rapid migration of plutonium that has already been observed at some sites. Finally, these models should seek to be conservative in their treatment of potential transport pathways and in the parameters they use given the long half lives of many of the important transuranic radionuclides and the fact that we still cannot fully explain the mechanisms by which plutonium has already been observed to migrate at all sites.

¹⁶¹ NAS/NRC 2001 p. 92 ¹⁶² EPA 1999 p. 1.1

References

40 CFR 141	Code of Federal Regulations. Title 40Protection of Environment. Chapter I— Environmental Protection Agency. Part 141National Primary Drinking Water Regulations. 7-1-04 Edition. Washington, DC: Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration; United States Government Printing Office, 2004.
ATSDR 1990	Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, "Toxicological Profile for Radium", Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, December 1990, The full report is available online at: <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp144.pdf</u>
Bethke and Brady 2000	Craig M. Bethke and Patrick V. Brady. "How the K _d Approach Undermines Ground Water Cleanup", <i>Ground Water</i> , Vol. 38 No. 3, 435-443 (2000)
Buesseler et al. 2003	K.O. Buesseler, M. Dai, D. Repeta, J.F. Wacker, J.M. Kelley, "Speciation, Mobility and Fate of Actinides in the Groundwater at the Hanford Site: Final Report. [Washington, DC]: U.S. Department of Energy, [November 5, 2003]. Online at http://www.osti.gov/energycitations/servlets/purl/820366-OlcNhO/native/820366.pdf . (DOE/ER/14733)
Cantrell, Serne, and Last 2003	K.J. Cantrell, R.J. Serne, and G.V. Last. "Hanford contaminant distribution coefficient database and users guide," June 2003. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, Washington, June 2003. (PNNL-13895, Rev. 1)
Choppin and Morgenstern 2001	Gregory R. Choppin and Alfred Morgenstern. "Distribution and movement of environmental plutonium," in <i>Plutonium in the environment</i> , A. Kudo, ed., 2001. pp. 91-105.
Colorado Reg. 31, 2005	Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. Water Quality Control Commission. <i>The Basic Standards and Methodologies for Surface Water (5 CCR 1002- 31)</i> . Regulation No 31. Originally adopted in 1979 and last amended on November 8, 2004, with the amendments to be effective March 22, 2005. Link online at http://www.cdphe.state.co.us/op/regs/wate rqualityregs.asp
Contardi, Turner, and Ahn 2001	J.S. Contardi, D.R. Turner, and T.M. Ahn. "Modeling colloid transport for performance assessment," <i>Journal of Contaminant Hydrology</i> , Vol. 47, 323-333 (2001)
Dai, Buesseler, and Pike 2004	Minhan Dai, Ken O. Buesseler, and Steven M. Pike, "Plutonium in groundwater at the 100K-Area of the US DOE Hanford Site," revised for <i>Journal of Contamination Hydrology</i> , 1/27/2004.
Dai, Kelley, and Buesseler 2002	Minhan Dai, James M. Kelley, and Ken O. Buesseler. "Sources and Migration of Plutonium in Groundwater at the Savannah River Site," <i>Environmental Science & Technology</i> , Vol. 36, 3690-3699 (2002)
Dirkes, Hanf, Poston 1999	R.L. Dirkes, R.W. Hanf, T.M. Poston, eds. <i>Hanford Site environmental report for calendar year 1998</i> . Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA, September 1999. (PNNL-12088, UC-602)
DOE Timeline	Executive Secretariat Department of Energy, "Department of Energy Timeline", Office of History and Heritage Resources, online at <u>http://www.mbe.doe.gov/me70/history/doe_timeline.htm</u>

Duff 2001	Martine C. Duff, "Speciation and transformations of sorbed Pu on geologic materials: wet chemical and spectroscopic observations," in <i>Plutonium in the environment, A. Kudo, ed., 2001.</i> p. 139-157.
Englert, Ford- Schmid, and Bransford 2003	Dave Englert, Ralph Ford-Schmid, and Kenny Bransford. Post Cerro Fire Channel Morphology In Lower Pueblo Canyon, Reach P-4 West: and Storm Water Transport of Plutonium 239-240 in Suspended Sediments, Los Alamos County, New Mexico, Draft 12/5/2003. Department of Energy Oversight Bureau, New Mexico Environment Department, Santa Fe, NM, November 2003.
EPA 1999	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Understanding Variation in Partition Coefficient, K_d , Values: Volume I: The K_d Model of Measurement, and Application of Chemical Reaction Codes. Office of Radiation and Indoor Air, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency [and] Office of Environmental Restoration, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, . August 1999. (EPA402-R-99-004A)
EPA 1999b	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Understanding Variation in Partition Coefficient, K_d , Values: Volume II: Review of Geochemisty and Available K_d Values for Cadmium, Cesium, Chromium, Lead, Plutonium, Radon, Strontium, Thorium, Tritium (3H) and Uranium. Office of Radiation and Indoor Air, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, EPA [and] Office of Environmental Restoration, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, August 1999. (EPA 402-R-99-004B)
EPA 2004	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Understanding Variation in Partition Coefficient, K_{d} , Values. Volume III: Review of Geochemistry and Available K_{d} Valuesfor Americium, Arsenic, Curium, Iodine, Neptunium, Radium, and Technetium. Office of Air and Radiation. July 2004 (EPA402-R-04-002C)
Fioravanti and Makhijani 1997	Marc Fioravanti and Arjun Makhijani. <i>Containing the Cold War Mess: Restructuring the Environmental Management of the U.S. Nuclear Weapons Complex</i> . Takoma Park, Maryland: Institute for Energy and Environmental Research, October 1997. On the Web at <u>http://www.ieer.org/reports/cleanup</u> .
Fjeld et al. 2003	R.A. Fjeld, S.M. Serkiz, P.L. McGinnis, Alper Elci, Daniel I. Kaplan. "Evaluation of a conceptual model for the subsurface transport of plutonium involving surface mediated reduction of Pu(V) to Pu(IV)," <i>Journal of Contaminant Hydrology</i> , Vol. 67, 79-94 (2003)
Francis 2001	Arokiasamy J. Francis. "Microbial transformations of plutonium and implications for its mobility," in <i>Plutonium in the environment, A. Kudo, ed., 2001.</i> pp. 201-219.
Gephart 2003	Roy E. Gephart. <i>Hanford: A conversation about nuclear waste and cleanup</i> . Battelle Press, Columbus, OH, 2003.
Graf 1994	William L. Graf. <i>Plutonium and the Rio Grande: Environmental Change and Contamination in the Nuclear Age.</i> Oxford University Press, New York, 1994.
Hakem, Allen, and Sylwester 1999	N.L. Hakem, P.G. Allen, and E.R. Sylwester. <i>Sorption and Diffusion Studies of Pu(IV) and Pu(IV)-EDTA onto and through Hanford Soil</i> . Submitted to Migration '99, Tahoe, CA, 9/27-10/1/99. US Department of Energy, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, September 15, 1999. (Pre-print UCRL-JC-135799)

Hinton and Pinder 2001	T.G. Hinton and J.E. Pinder. "A review of plutonium releases from the Savannah River Site, subsequent behavior within terrestrial and aquatic environments and the resulting dose to humans," in <i>Plutonium in the environment, A. Kudo, ed., 2001.</i> p. 413-435.
Honeyman 1999	Bruce D. Honeyman., "Colloidal culprits in contamination," <i>Nature</i> , Vol. 397, p. 23 (7 January 1999)
Hu et al. 2003	Qinhon (Max) Hu, David K. Smith, Timothy Rose, Lee Glascoe, Carl Steefel, Mavrik Zavarin, <i>Radionuclide Mobility at the Nevada Test Site</i> . Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, CA, October 2003. (UCRL-TR-200953)
IAEA 1990	International Atomic Energy Agency. <i>The Environmental Behaviour of Radium</i> , <i>Volume</i> 1. Technical Reports Series No. 310. 1990
IAEA 1990b	International Atomic Energy Agency. <i>The Environmental Behaviour of Radium, Volume</i> 2. Technical Reports Series No. 310. 1990
Kaplan et al. 2004	Daniel I Kaplan, Brian A. Powell, Deniz I. Demirkanli, Robert A. Fjeld, Fred J. Molz, Steven M. Serkiz, and Martine C. Duff. "Plutonium Transport for 11 Years Through a Vadose Zone Sediment: Influence of Oxidation State." Paper abstract presented at 2004 Clay Minerals Society 41 st Annual Meeting, Richland, WA. Online at http://www.pnl.gov/cms/docs/Environmental_Soil_Chemistry_Clays.pdf.
Kersting et al. 1998	Annie B. Kersting, D. Wes Efurd, David L. Finnegan, Donald J. Rokop, David K. Smith, and Joseph L. Thompson. "Migration of Plutonium in Groundwater at the Nevada Test Site," in Chapter 7, <i>Hydrologic Resources Management Program and Underground Test Area Operable Unit FY 1997 Progress Report</i> , David K. Smith et al., Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, May 1998, pp. 76-92. (UCRL-JC-130792)
Kersting et al. 1999	A.B. Kersting, D.W. Efurd, D.L. Finnegan, D.J. Rokop, D.K. Smith, and J.L. Thompson., "Migration of plutonium in ground water at the Nevada Test Site," <i>Nature</i> , Vol. 397, 56-58 (7 January 1999)
Landa 1996	Edward R. Landa, "Geochemical Characterization of Uranium Mill Tailings and Radionuclide Mobilization Processes", In: <i>Joint US Geological Survey, US Nuclear</i> <i>Regulatory Commission workshop on Research related to low-level radioactive waste</i> <i>disposal</i> , edited by PR Stevens and TJ Nicholson. <i>Water-Resources Investigations</i> (USGS), pp. 18-24, 1996
LANL 2002	Los Alamos National Laboratory. <i>Environmental Surveillance at Los Alamos during 2001</i> . Los Alamos, NM. September 2002. (LANL-13979-ENV)
Lansard et al. 2003	Bruno Lansard, Sabine Charmasson, Frédérique Eyrolle, Mirelle Arnaud, and Christian Grenz "Plutonium Isotope Remobilization from Natural Sediments (Gulf of Lions, Northwestern Mediterranean Sea): Estimation Based on Flume Experiments," in <i>Plutonium Futures -The Science</i> , G.D. Jarvinen, ed., 2003. pp. 99-101.
Long and Ewing 2004	Jane C.S. Long and Rodney C. Ewing, "Yucca Mountain: Earth-Science Issues at a Geologic Repository for High-Level Nuclear Waste", <i>Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences</i> , Vol. 32, 363-401 (2004)
Loyland Asbury, Lamont, and Clark 2001	S.M. Loyland Asbury, S.P. Lamont, and S.B. Clark, "Plutonium Partitioning to Colloidal and Particulate Matter in an Acidic, Sandy Sediment: Implications for Remediation Alternatives and Plutonium Migration," <i>Environmental Science & Technology</i> , Vol. 35, No. 11, pp. 2295-2300 (2001)

Lu et al. 2003	N. Lu et al., "Sorption kinetics and impact of temperature, ionic strength and colloid concentration on the adsorption of plutonium-239 by inorganic colloids", <i>Radiochimica Acta</i> , Volume 91 (2003)
Makhijani 2005	Arjun Makhijani, "Bad to the Bone: Analysis of the Federal Maximum Contaminant Levels for Plutonium-239 and Other Alpha-Emitting Transuranic Radionuclides in Drinking Water", June 2005
Makhijani and Boyd 2001	Arjun Makhijani and Michele Boyd. <i>Poison in the Vadose Zone: An Examination of the threats to the Snake River Plain aquifer from the Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory</i> . Institute for Energy and Environmental Research, Takoma Park, MD, October 2001.
Makhijani and Smith 2006	Arjun Makhijani and Brice Smith, "Dangerous Discrepancies: Missing Weapons Plutonium in Los Alamos National Laboratory Waste Accounts", November 29, 2005 (reissued April 21, 2006), online at <u>http://www.ieer.org/reports/lanl/weaponspureport.pdf</u>
Marty, Bennett, and Thullen 1997	Richard C. Marty, Deborah Bennett, and Philip Thullen. "Mechanism of Plutonium Transport in a Shallow Aquifer in Mortandad Canyon, Los Alamos National Laboratory, New Mexico," <i>Environmental Science & Technology</i> , Vol. 31, No. 7, pp. 2020-2027 (1997).
NABIR 2003	Natural and Accelerated Bioremediation Research Program. <i>Bioremediation of Metals and RadionuclidesWhat It Is and How It Works</i> , 2 nd ed., A NABIR Primer. Prepared for the Natural and Accelerated Bioremediation Research Program, Office of Biological and Environmental Research, Office of Science, U.S. Department of Energy. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA, 2003. (LBNL-42595(2003)). Online at <u>http://www.lbl.gov/NABIR/generalinfo/primersguides.html</u> .
NAS/NRC 1999	Jonathan M. Samet et al., <u>Health Effects of Exposure to Radon: BEIR VI</u> , National Academy Press, Washington, DC (1999)
NAS/NRC 2001	D. Warner North et al., <u>Disposition of High-Level Waste and Spent Nuclear Fuel: The</u> <u>Continuing Societal and Technical Challenges</u> , National Academy Press, Washington, DC (2001)
Negri and Orlandini 1995	M. Cristina Negri, Kent A. Orlandini, Neil Swift, and Daniel Carfagno. "Plutonium mobility studies in soil sediment decontaminated by means of a soil-washing technology." [Conference on challenges and innovations in the management of hazardous waste, Washington, DC, 10-12 May 1995]; [USDOE] July 1, 1995. (ANL/ES/CP86536; CONF-9505101-7)
Nelson and Orlandini 1986	D.M. Nelson and K.A. Orlandini. "Source Effects on Actinide Movement in Groundwater," pp. 3-8 to 3-12, in <i>Environmental Research Division Technical Progress</i> <i>Report, January 1984-December 1985.</i> Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, IL, May 1986. (ANL-86-15; DE 86012839)
Ohnuki et al. 2003	T. Ohnuki, M. Samadfam, T. Yoshida, T. Ozaki, Z. Yoshida, and A.J. Francis, "Biosorption of U(VI) and Pu(VI) by <i>Bacillus Subtilis</i> and a Mixture of <i>B. Subtilis</i> With Clay Mineral," abstract, in <i>Plutonium FuturesThe Science</i> , ed. G.D. Jarvinen, 2003. p. 98

Penrose et al. 1990	William R. Penrose, Wilfred L. Polzer, Edward H. Essington, Donald M. Nelson, and Kent A. Orlandini. "Mobility of Plutonium and Americium through a Shallow Aquifer in a Semiarid Region," <i>Environmental Science & Technology</i> , Vol. 24, No. 2, 228-234 (1990)
Rai and Serne 1977	Dhanpat Rai and R.J. Serne. "Plutonium Activities in Soil Solutions and the Stability and Formation of Selected Plutonium Minerals," <i>Journal of Environmental Quality</i> Vol. 6, no. 1, 89-95 (1977).
Rai, Serne, and Moore 1980	Dhanpat Rai, R.J. Serne, and D.A. Moore. "Solubility of Plutonium Compounds and Their Behavior in Soils," <i>Soil Science Society of America Journal</i> , Vol. 44, 490-495 (1980)
Runde et al. 2002	W. Runde et al., "Solubility and sorption of redox-sensitive radionuclides (Np, Pu) in J- 13 water from the Yucca Mountain site : comparison between experiment and theory", <i>Applied Geochemistry</i> , Volume 17 (2002)
Santschi, Roberts, and Guo 2001	Peter H. Santschi, Kimberly A. Roberts, and Laodong Guo. <i>The organic nature of colloidal actinides in surface waters at the Rocky Flats Environmental Technology Site, Colorado, USA, Final Report - 2001.</i> September 27, 2001. Link online at http://www.rfets.gov/eddie/Reports/Main.asp? Menu=/eddie/ActinideMigration/Menu.htm&Type=Actinide+Migration.
Schäfer et al. 2003	T. Schafer et al., "Colloid-Borne Americium Migration in Gorleben Groundwater: Significance of Iron Secondary Phase Transformation", <i>Environmental Science and Technology</i> , Volume 37 (2003)
Sholkovitz 1983	Edward R. Sholkovitz. "The Geochemistry of Plutonium in Fresh and Marine Water Environments," <i>Earth-Science Reviews</i> , Vol. 19, 95-161 (1983)
Skipperud, Oughton, and Salbu 2000	L. Skipperud, D. Oughton, and B. Salbu. "The impact of Pu speciation on distribution coefficients in Mayak soil," <i>The Science of the Total Environment</i> , Vol. 257, 81-93 (2000)
Toulhoat 2002	P. Toulhoat, "Confinement and migration of radionuclides in a nuclear waste deep repository", <i>Comptes Rendus Physique</i> , Volume 3 (2002)
Turekian Abstract 1997	Karl K. Turekian, "Radium on soil mineral surfaces: its mobility under environmental conditions and its role in radon emanation." DOE FINAL REPORT 1997, DOE/ER/60576-TI
Yu et al. 2001	C. Yu et al., "User's Manual for RESRAD Version 6", Environmental Assessment Division Argonne National Laboratory, July 2001 (ANL/EAD-4)
Zhu 2003	Chen Zhu. "A case against K _d -based transport models: natural attenuation at a mill tailings site", <i>Computers & Geosciences</i> , Vol. 29, 351-359 (2003)
Zhu, Anderson, and Burden 2002	Chen Zhu, Greg M. Anderson, and David S. Burden. "Natural Attenuation Reactions at a Uranium Mill Tailings Site, Western U.S.A.", <i>Ground Water</i> , Vol. 40 No. 1, 5-13 (2002)
Zhu, Hu, and Burden 2001	Chen Zhu, Fang Q. Hu, and David S. Burden. "Multi-component reactive transport modeling of natural attenuation of an acid groundwater plume at a uranium mill tailings site", <i>Journal of Contaminant Hydrology</i> , Vol. 52, 85-108 (2001)

Additional Resources Available

N.L. Hakem, A. Brachmann, M. Zavarin, A.B. Kersting. "Sorption of Plutonium onto Clinoptilolite (Zeolite) Colloids," Submitted to PU Futures 2000, Santa Fe, NM, July 10-13, 2000. U.S. Department of Energy, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, CA, January 26, 2000. (UCRL-JC-137331)

N.L. Hakem, P.G. Allen and E.R. Sylwester. "Effect of EDTA on plutonium migration," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, Vol. 250, No. 1, 47-53 (2001)

Z. Hölgye and M. Malý. "Sources, vertical distribution, and migration rates of ^{239,240}Pu, ²³⁸Pu, and ¹³⁷Cs in grassland soil in three localities of central Bohemia," *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, Vol. 47, 135-147 (2000)

E.R. Landa and J.R. Gray, "U.S. Geological Survey Research on the Environmental Fare of Uranium Mining and Milling Wastes", *Environmental Geology*, Vol. 26, 19-31 (1995)

Los Alamos National Laboratory. "Plutonium Speciation, Solubilization, and Migration", LANL, Environmental Problem-Solving Through Science and Engineering, (Friday, January 30, 2004, 3:01:02 PM), online at http://www-emtd.lanl.gov/TD/Science/PlutoniumSoils.html, accessed 1/30/04. (LALP-02-085)

Yasunori Mahara and Hideo Matsuzuru. "Mobile and Immobile Plutonium in a Groundwater Environment," *Water Research*, Vol. 23, No. 1, pp. 43-50 (1989).

Y. Mahara, and A. Kudo. 2001. "Plutonium mobility and its fate in soil and sediment environments," in *Plutonium in the Environment*, A. Kudo, Ed., 2001, Elsevier Science Ltd., pp. 347-362.

J.S. Nathwani and C.R. Phillips, "Adsoprtion of ²²⁶Ra by Soils (I)", Chemosphere, Vol. 5, 285-291 (1979)

J.S. Nathwani and C.R. Phillips, "Adsoprtion of ²²⁶Ra by Soils in the Presence of Ca2+ Ions", *Chemosphere*, Vol. 5, 293-299 (1979)

J.W. Nyhan, B.J. Drennon, W.V. Abeele, M.L. Wheeler, W.D. Purtymun, G.Trujillo, W.J. Herrera, and J.W. Booth. "Distribution of Plutonium and Americium Beneath a 33-yr-old Liquid Waste Disposal Site," *Journal of Environmental Quality*, Vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 501-509 (1985)

J.H. Pardue and T.Z. Guo, "Biochemistry of ²²⁶Ra in Contaminated Bottom Sediments and Oilfield Waste Pits", *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, Vol. 39, 239-253 (1998)

D. Rai, R.J. Serne, and J.L. Swanson. "Solution species of plutonium in the environment," *J. Environ. Qual.*, 9:417-420, 1980

A.F.B. Tompson, C.J. Bruton, W.L. Bourcier, D.E. Shumaker, A.B. Kersting, D.K. Smith, S.F. Carle, G.A. Pawloski, and J.A. Rard. "Simulation of Radionuclide Migration in Groundwater Away from an Underground Nuclear Test", U.S. Department of Energy, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, December 13, 1999. (Preprint UCRL-JC-136847)

U.S. Congress, Office of Technology Assessment. *Complex Cleanup: The Environmental Legacy of Nuclear Weapons Production*. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, February 1991. (OTA-O-484)

I.R. Willet and W.J. Bond, "Sorption of Manganese, Uranium, and Radium by Highly Weathered Soils", *Journal of Environmental Quality*, Vol. 24, 834-845 (1995)